

University of Warwick institutional repository: http://go.warwick.ac.uk/wrap

A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of PhD at the University of Warwick

http://go.warwick.ac.uk/wrap/2805

This thesis is made available online and is protected by original copyright.

Please scroll down to view the document itself.

Please refer to the repository record for this item for information to help you to cite it. Our policy information is available from the repository home page.

An Exploration of the Role of Information Systems in Developing Strategic Growth in Small and Medium-sized Enterprises

A dissertation submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to be awarded for the submission of published work.

Margaret Susan Levy

Warwick Business School

University of Warwick

Coventry UK

April 2009

10367 words from Summary and Contribution to Knowledge to Conclusions,

including figures and tables.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Declaration and Collaborative Work	ii
Summary and Contribution to Knowledge	1
Background to the Research Topic	5
The importance of studying the role of IS in managing SMEs	5
Defining SMEs	6
IS Investment in SMEs	7
Research Themes	8
Presentation of the Papers	8
IS Strategy and SMEs	9
Exploring IS Concepts in the SME Context	12
Strategic Context of IS Investment in SMEs	16
Knowledge Sharing and Co-opetition in SMEs – the IS role	19
SMEs and Internet Adoption	22
Strategies for Growth in SMEs: the role of Information and Information Systems	26
Contribution Summary, Methodology and Impact	30
Contribution Summary	30
Methodology	31
Impact	36
Current and Future Research	38
Current Research	38
Future Research	39
Conclusions	40
References	42
Appendix 1: Written statements by collaborators	47
Appendix 2: Contribution to the submitted papers by the PhD candidate	56
Appendix 3: Citations	57
Appendix 4: Bibliography of all published work by Margi Levy	63

Acknowledgements

My research has benefited from the enriching and supportive collaboration from working closely with Philip Powell and Philip Yetton, both of whom enabled me to unlock and articulate my ideas. I am also grateful to colleagues who have advised about the preparation of this submission including Andrew Martin, Kevin Mole, Joe Nandakhumar, Wendy Currie, John Mingers and David Storey. The support and encouragement of my husband, Michael Synnott, has helped me to maintain my equilibrium through dark times and good so that I am able to make this submission.

Declaration and Collaborative Work

I declare that this work is not substantially the same as any that I have previously submitted or am currently submitting in any form or for any qualification at any university or other institution.

No parts of this work have previously been submitted for any similar qualification.

The papers included in this submission are all joint-authored. Statements from all collaborators are attached at Appendix 1. However, the author's contribution can be clearly identified and is substantial. This contribution has been primarily in understanding strategies for growth in small and medium sized enterprises and the role of management information systems in supporting that growth. The author led the initiative to study this area, developing the research approach and developing the database which forms the basis of the knowledge generated. Without this knowledge the papers would not exist.

My co-authors have played a number of roles in nurturing and developing my research output. Bob Galliers was an early mentor, encouraging me to develop my early research ideas and to apply for a university grant to achieve them. My relationship with Philip Powell has grown particularly from advisor to collaborator. Initially, as an inexperienced author, Philip helped me articulate my research. This led to us recognising that we enjoyed working together. The creativity generated by the relationship has generated more research ideas as well as extended the network of senior authors with whom we have also collaborated, such as Philip Yetton and Claudia Loebbecke.

Summary and Contribution to Knowledge

This submission demonstrates that the attached papers and book represent a significant contribution to knowledge in the field of information systems (IS) with a particular focus on small and medium sized enterprises. The theme throughout the publications is consistent: identifying strategic opportunities from information systems for small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs). This document presents the papers and evaluates their contribution. The papers and a copy of the book are included with this document.

The papers and book demonstrate the research contribution in four ways. The first contribution is to IS strategy knowledge, where the research has identified that IS analytical models that depend on IS department-business relationships are not useful in the SME context. Additionally, the research identifies those IS models that can be used in all organisational contexts to analyse strategic management information systems requirements.

Second, the research demonstrates IS concepts developed in the large firm context such as evaluation, flexibility and knowledge sharing may only have limited applicability in SMEs.

Third, the research contributes by developing a new model, the Focus-Dominance model that provides insights into analysing opportunities for strategic IS investment in SMEs. The final research contribution identifies issues that influence SME growth from internet adoption and e-business opportunities.

The papers represent development of the research theme over the last 13 years. The main themes of the papers are information systems strategy; exploring IS issues in the

SME context; strategic context of IS investment in SMEs and internet adoption and strategy in SMEs. The twelve papers and book represent a subset of the author's publications. These have been selected as they show the main contribution to knowledge. The book demonstrates a research led approach to understanding the information systems issues that can influence SME growth. It is the first book that has been written on this topic and provides a useful source for the growing number of researchers in the field.

The submission is organised as follows. A brief discussion is included on the reasons why SMEs behave differently from large firms and what this means for information systems. The next section presents the papers. These explore the validity of IS concepts in the SME context. Following on from this the submission considers the drivers and enablers of IS investment in SMEs. Finally the development of new theories in analysing strategic IS investment is discussed. Within the discussion the significance of the contribution, and the role played by co-authors is highlighted. The final section reflects upon the research contribution, methodology, research impact and current and future research.

Table 1 presents the list of papers for submission with a brief summary of their contribution. Appendix 1 includes the written statements by collaborators of joint papers. Appendix 2 presents the author's contribution to the submitted papers. Appendix 3 presents the known citations for papers included in the submission. Appendix 4 presents the author's full publication list.

No.	Reference	Торіс	Contribution
1	Levy et al (1999)	Assessing the value	Critique of IS contingency
		of information	models in the SME context.
		systems strategy	Identifying those that are context
		(ISS) frameworks	independent and those that are
		in the SME context	not.
2	Levy and Powell (1997)	In depth case	Demonstration of the value of an
		analysis	information systems strategy
		investigating the	(ISS) to SMEs
		development of an	
		ISS for an SME	
3	Levy and Powell (2000)	Development of an	Theory building to develop an
		organisational ISS	ISS framework for SMEs taking
		framework for	an organisational perspective
		SMEs	
4	Levy and Powell (1998)	Investigating the	Critique of established theory by
		role of IS	refuting concept that SMEs are
		flexibility in and	flexible and demonstrating that
		SME context	their use of IS does not
			contribute to flexibility
5	Ballantine et al (1998)	Investigating	Critique of IS evaluation theory
		evaluation	and exploration of its concepts
		approaches to IS	in the SME context
		investment in	
		SMEs	
6	Levy et al (2001)	Modelling IS	Theory building to enable
		strategic	understanding of IS investment
		investment in	decisions taking account of SME

		SMEs	heterogeneity
7	Levy et al (2002)	Modelling strategic IS growth paths in SMEs	Theory building to enable understanding of the changing patterns in IS investment in SMEs as a result of business growth and strategic changes.
8	Levy et al (2003)	Investigating the IS role of knowledge and co-opetition in SMEs	Critique of a game theoretic framework for analysing inter- organisational knowledge sharing
9	Levy and Powell (2003)	Internet adoption in SMEs	Critique of stages models of internet adoption and development of a contingency approach for SMEs
10	Levy et al (2005)	Strategic enablers and inhibitors of Internet adoption in SMEs	Critique of existing knowledge on inhibitors and enablers of internet adoption. Demonstrates that strategic intent influences e- business adoption in SMEs
11	Beckinsale et al (2006)	Identifying internet adoption drivers for SMEs	Confirms existing knowledge of the SME owner as key driver of internet adoption. Shows the limited impact of government policies and competitor pressure
12	Levy and Powell (2005)	Brings together learning on the role of IS in SMEs	Provides a comprehensive analysis of IS adoption in SMEs

Table 1: Submitted Papers and their Contribution to knowledge

Background to the Research Topic

This section briefly introduces the key issues and rationale for studying information systems within the SME context. SMEs are defined and shown to vary in scale, scope and configuration. IS investment is shown to be problematic for many SMEs with the owner central to decision-making. This leads to research questions that consider whether and in what way it is possible to understand and inform SMEs decisions on IS adoption.

The importance of studying the role of IS in managing SMEs

The reasons for studying the role of IS in managing SMEs are described in the early chapters of **Levy and Powell (2005)**. The first three chapters explain the value of information as a strategic resource for firms, particularly in relation to improving competitiveness; collaboration and strategic partnerships, locally and globally. As is discussed in **Levy and Powell (2005)**, most of the research on identifying strategic opportunities from information systems is undertaken in large firms with limited research in SMEs. There is an increased need for research into opportunities from strategic IS in SMEs as more invest in management information systems and technology also means that some SMEs invest in management information systems, particularly to support and manage growth (**Levy and Powell, 2005:43**).

Past research in IS and SMEs has demonstrated the problematic nature of IS investment for these firms (Hagmann and McCahon 1993, Thong 2001). Better understanding of the role of IS in SMEs may help to improve SMEs' capacity to make effective IS investments to facilitate growth. The book and the papers demonstrate where existing knowledge in the IS field can be used in the SME context and where new models need to be developed.

Defining SMEs

There are several definitions of SMEs, but the one that is most useful in the context of management research is the number of employees. The reason for this is due to the increasing formality in management structure that develops as firms grow (Burns 2001, Storey 1994). This research defines micro-enterprises as fewer than 10 employees, small firms with between 10 and 49 employees, while medium sized firms have between 50 and 249 employees (SBS 2003).

SMEs vary in form and size. They are often seen as flexible and innovative organisations, able to respond quickly to customer demands. The owner/manager is often seen as the centre of a web, holding all the decision making power (Burns 2001).

However, the key issues that make SMEs different are, first, they lack control in the market as prices are usually determined by customers (Storey and Sykes 1996). SMEs are price takers. Second, SMEs attitude to risk and uncertainty may lead them to take a short term perspective on strategy, such that they behave tactically rather than strategically, mainly focusing on current operational activities. Third, they are often under-capitalised. Thus, SMEs are more prone to failure than large firms (Storey 1994, Bianchi 2002). SME growth is variable with some SMEs following high trajectory paths (gazelles) (Acs and Mueller 2008), but the majority are happy to have enough growth to enable them to retain control (Morrison et al 2003). There are also SMEs that

do not plan growth, where lifestyle opportunities provide the basis for the business (Gray 2002). In other words, SMEs are heterogeneous, with different drivers depending upon their strategic objectives. This heterogeneity is not taken into account in most SME research. The research discussed below demonstrates that IS adoption varies according to strategic objectives for growth.

IS Investment in SMEs

SMEs need business intelligence as much as large firms. Their attitude to investment in information systems is that they expect longevity, often preferring to repair existing systems rather than re-invest (Cragg and King 1992). Limited finances often inhibit new IS investment (Proudlock et al 1998). Information systems tend to be operational in nature, focusing on processing orders, invoicing and some limited financial analysis (Foong, 1999, Thong 2001). There is little investment in strategic IS that will provide the knowledge that can improve competitiveness (Blili and Raymond 1993).

Few SMEs employ their own IS staff, preferring to employ local consultants on a parttime basis to maintain business systems (Cragg and Zinatelli 1995). What is clear is that the SME owner is the key driver of IS investment. This is still true in medium sized firms where there may be some management delegation but never devolution: the owner is still the prime decision maker for capital investment (Thong 2001, Caldeira and Ward 2002). Where SME owners do invest in information systems, there is a tendency to purchase bespoke systems that can satisfy the immediate needs of the firm (Thong 2001). Recognising the pivotal role played by SMEs who represent 95% of all firms with between 60-70% of all employees (OECD 2004), governments globally have invested in programmes to promote internet technologies as a means for improving competitiveness. Even with such programmes offering support and inexpensive internet access, SMEs are cautious about the value of e-business investment as they see limited benefits (Keindl 2000, Lawson et al 2003).

Research Themes

The above discussion leads to two research themes that are addressed by the collection of papers. First, the dynamic and heterogeneous nature of SMEs suggests it is important to understand whether differences in organisational structure and strategic direction require different IS adoption decisions. This leads to the proposition that there may be different criteria for adoption dependent upon the nature of the SME. Second, IS research has only had a limited interest in the study of SMEs. As such the utility of strategic IS models used to analyse IS opportunities has only been explored in the SME sector in a limited way. Similarly, there is little research in SMEs on IS concepts such as information systems flexibility, evaluation, knowledge sharing or internet adoption.

Presentation of the Papers

The papers in this submission demonstrate a chronology in research development and topic (see Figure 1). The early research undertaken focuses on the value of IS strategy models and their contribution to understanding IS strategy in SMEs. The outcomes of this research provide useful input into the second contribution which is to understand

two key IS issues, flexibility and evaluation, in the SME context. The research seeks to understand whether and, in what way, concepts developed in the context of large firms are relevant to SMEs. The third contribution is that of model development which seeks to contribute to explaining IS investment in SMEs and its role in supporting their growth. The final contribution is to identify and explore strategic opportunities from ebusiness for SMEs.



Figure 1: Research Topic Themes and Papers over Time

IS Strategy and SMEs

Information systems strategies (ISS) are a response to the need to plan and organise the IS requirements in firms (Galliers 1987). Unless this is done it is likely that management information systems will be developed in a piecemeal fashion, not contributing to business strategy nor enabling firms to respond flexibly to market changes (Avison et al 1998). The development of an ISS is an integral part of business

planning (Earl 1996). The initial research into this topic was funded by a small development grant from the University of Warwick awarded in 1994.

A review of the literature indicated that that Earl's (1989) framework of frameworks provided the clearest understanding of the role of IS analytical frameworks. The research undertaken was to identify which of these frameworks were applicable to SMEs. A case study approach was identified as appropriate to address this exploratory research.

The analysis identifies the strategic IS frameworks that are valid within the SME context. Levy et al (1999) demonstrate that strategic IS frameworks that raise awareness of IS opportunities are as valuable for SMEs as they are for larger firms. The paper concludes that SME owners can benefit from understanding IS trends as they apply to their industry. Also highlighted are the benefits of using Porter's (1980) five forces analysis and Porter and Millar's (1985) value chain analysis to identify opportunities for improving competitiveness as well as efficiency and effectiveness. Levy et al (1999) shows that customer pressure stands out as the dominant competitive force.

Levy et al (1999) also demonstrate that there are a number of IS models that are context dependent. These are primarily those that Earl (1989) defines as positioning models. The research finds that there is little evidence that stages of growth models and models that consider IS department management issues are valid in the SME context. Two factors are considered: the lack of an IS department and the owner being instrumental in IS purchasing decisions. The literature analysis, case interview design and analysis and conclusions are the author's sole work. Philip Powell helped the author reflect on the

arguments within the paper to ensure their coherence. Bob Galliers reviewed early drafts of the paper.

Detailed case analysis plus the findings from Levy et al (1999) provide the basis for Levy and Powell (1997). This paper used a worked example of a medium-sized manufacturer of automotive springs to demonstrate that SMEs can gain benefits from strategic information systems planning. There are very few worked examples of how smaller firms might carry out ISS and the benefits that might accrue. The analytical tools used demonstrate the need to understand the strategic context of the firm compared to its existing business processes in order to determine the future strategic content. This paper identifies the operational focus of planning in SMEs and supports early research in the US by Hagmann and McCahon (1993). It highlights the need for business intelligence for more efficient and effective management of the firm. It demonstrates the need for SMEs to take a more strategic perspective on IS adoption if they are to remain competitive. The research was carried out solely by the author. Philip Powell reviewed the arguments in the paper to ensure their coherence and consistency.

These two papers provide the basis for **Levy and Powell (2000)**. This paper develops and tests an information systems strategy (ISS) framework directed at SMEs. The framework describes an iterative process that considers the business context (i.e. future direction) compares it with existing business processes to determine the strategic content (i.e. future strategic IS opportunities).

Walsham's (1993) interpretive approach to information systems strategy is instrumental in informing the framework. Walsham's approach recognises that vision for change

11

which is a key part of developing an ISS requires an understanding of the wider role played by the social context of the business as well the internal business processes. Hence, soft systems methodology (Checkland 1981, Galliers 1987) is used to capture this wider understanding. The analytical IS tools reported in **Levy et al (1999)** are used to identify strategic IS opportunities and model current use of IS.

The paper presents data from 44 cases: the larger data set supporting the earlier findings of the exploratory research on the value of analytical tools. The analysis also supports the literature which suggests that SMEs tend to have an operational focus to IS use and owners do not think of using it competitively. This is probably due to their limited knowledge about IS opportunities.

The contribution to knowledge can be seen in three main areas, value of strategic frameworks to SMEs, utility of strategic frameworks in contexts other than those in which they have been developed and the development of an approach to development of ISS specifically directed at SMEs. The author designed, developed the research approach, undertook the data analysis and developed the concepts in the paper. Philip Powell provided useful insights in refining the analysis and discussion in the paper.

Exploring IS Concepts in the SME Context

Since starting the research in 1994 a large database of SMEs and their response to IS issues has been developed, catalogued and analysed by the author using the models and frameworks outlined in **Levy and Powell (2000)**. This SME database provides a valuable resource to investigate other IS issues that might impact SMEs. As already noted, the majority of IS issues are studied within the context of large firms rather than

SMEs. In the early 1990s both flexibility (Evans, 1991; Eardley et al, 1997) and evaluation (Farbey et al, 1992; Farbey et al, 1993; Willcocks 1992) were issues that concerned researchers; neither of these issues had been studied in the SME context. Philip Powell had recently published on IS flexibility (Eardley et al (1997) and the author's research into SMEs' IS investment provided a rich seam of knowledge to investigate this topic. Levy and Powell (1998) was the first to explore whether IS enhances flexibility in SMEs.

Ballantine et al (1998) was the first to review IS evaluation issues in SMEs. SMEs investment decisions are often constrained by limited resources, particularly due to lack of capital. The three authors brought different strengths to the development of the paper. Philip Powell had previously published in the field of IS evaluation. Joan Ballantine was working on financing capital IS investments in large firms for her PhD. The author's knowledge and experience of SMEs and their decisions on IS investment provided the basis of the analysis.

Flexibility and SMEs: the IS role

The hypothesis underpinning **Levy and Powell (1998)** is that SMEs are flexible organisations (Storey and Cressy, 1995) and IS can enable flexibility (Eardley et al 1997) and therefore it might be expected that IS will improve flexibility within the SME. The paper utilises Evan's (1991) model to explore flexibility. Evan's (1991) model identifies four manoeuvres for strategic flexibility from technology: pre-emptive (innovative use of technology), exploitive (using existing technology more competitively), protective (utilising technology to improve effectiveness) and corrective

(learning from past mistakes). The benefits of flexibility are identified in the article as survival, business process alignment and competitive advantage. Modelling the advantages against the manoeuvres suggests that pre-emptive manoeuvres provide process alignment and competitive advantage, exploitive manoeuvres focus on gaining competitive advantage, protective manoeuvres are directed towards survival and internal alignment, while corrective manoeuvres only aid survival. These manoeuvres and the benefits of flexibility are explored in the context of SMEs and their use of IS.

Case study analysis demonstrates that SMEs' primary focus is survival in a highly competitive environment. This leaves little time for strategic thinking. Information systems investments primarily support transaction processing. Systems specifications are either technical or ad hoc, as systems are developed by external suppliers or selftaught personnel in the firm. This limits potential for flexibility, particularly as SMEs' finances are limited. SME owners are reluctant to make the ongoing commitment required for flexible systems. Flexibility is also limited by customer demand for quality in product and process which often includes specific guidelines for IS that SMEs must follow. Overall, the case analysis indicates that SMEs do not use many tactics that might generate flexibility, although it might be argued that their focus on survival has led them to take corrective manoeuvres. But there is no evidence of IS supporting flexibility in SMEs. This provides a dilemma in that SMEs are portrayed as flexible. Levy and Powell (1998) suggest that flexibility might occur at a sectoral level but not at an individual level. One reason for this might be that individual firms focus on a market niche, which is likely to limit their flexibility.

Evaluating IS in SMEs

14

Ballantine et al (1998) explores two main aspects of evaluation taken from extant theory as applied to large firms. These are approaches to evaluation and evaluation practice. The paper shows that the reasons for evaluation range from a means of justifying investments, to decide between projects, as a control mechanism and as a learning device. These reasons lead to different approaches to evaluation ranging from quantitative and objective to qualitative and subjective. Evaluation practice is shown to be problematic as full costs are not always articulated, intangible benefits are often ignored and risk is neglected.

Evaluation in SMEs only appears to be undertaken as a means of justifying investments. Investment decisions are primarily made using financial criteria as the techniques available reflect the factors that are critical to SME success, for example, short-term liquidity, profitability and cash flow. Limited access to capital means that SMEs are likely to limit the number of IS investments undertaken at any one time. Thus, it may be sufficient for SMEs to use evaluation tools that consider a single investment in isolation. The cases show a lack of planning and control, which may make it difficult for SMEs to identify whether anticipated benefits have been achieved or to provide information for control purposes. There is little evidence of evaluation being used as a learning tool for SMEs. There is no evidence of other factors being considered such as intangible benefits, quality or flexibility. Customer dominance, it is argued, may be a major reason for limited evaluation practice.

Thus evaluation approaches in the SMEs are primarily quantitative, calculating affordability and payback, recognising the need to recoup the original investment within

a period of time. For example, payback emphasises the importance of liquidity which is an important critical success factor for SMEs.

Strategic Context of IS Investment in SMEs

The third group of papers arise from discussions between Philip Powell, Philip Yetton and the author on whether more could be said about patterns of behaviour in strategic IS investment in SMEs and hence contribute to theory development. Working closely together a model of strategic IS investment was developed which was tested using the rich database developed by the author of SMEs' approach to IS investment. Both Yin (1994) and Eisenhardt (1989) recognise the benefits of multiple cases in identifying patterns and ensuring research is robust. The analysis led to the development of an analytical model, the focus-dominance model (Levy et al 2001) to describe strategic IS investment in SMEs. This model is the first to explain the heterogeneous nature of SMEs in strategic IS investment. Levy et al (2001) identify two dimensions to consider strategic IS investment in SMEs, strategic focus and customer dominance. Strategic focus is defined as either a low cost strategy or a value added strategy, while customer dominance is defined as either few or many customers. These two dimensions lead to the proposition of four scenarios for strategic IS investment in SMEs. They are efficiency (low cost and high customer dominance), co-ordination (low cost and low customer dominance), collaboration (value added and high customer dominance) and innovation (value added and low customer dominance) (See Figure 2).

Customer

Low

Co-ordination

Innovation

Dominance

	Strategic Focus	
	Cost	Value-Added
High	Efficiency	Collaboration

Figure 2: The Focus-Dominance Model (Levy et al 2001)

The efficiency scenario is seen when SMEs focus on IS for support and internal control of finances. The co-ordination scenario is based on improving internal effectiveness to maintain control in a growing SME, primarily managing customer information. Collaboration recognises the growing relationship with major customers who require effective exchange of information to process transactions and manage quality, IS becomes more sophisticated with SMEs recognising the value added potential. The final scenario, innovation, is seen in firms that recognise IS as integral to business strategy. Investment in IS influences business strategy direction in these firms. The literature analysis led to the development of the hypothesis that IS adoption in SMEs is a function of the strategic context as defined by the focus dominance model.

Testing the model was done in two ways, first assigning case firms to the scenarios based on its strategic context as understood through competitive forces analysis and Seven-S analysis, second through classifying the firms through their IS systems. The analysis was carried out by all the authors. The author wrote much of the literature review and the detailed case studies that form a key part of the paper.

The focus-dominance model provides a novel conceptual approach to understanding strategic IS investment in SMEs. The four scenarios indicate that, in general, SMEs' information systems align with their strategic direction. Levy et al (2001) shows that SMEs that take a cost focused view of strategy utilise basic IS systems such as

accounting and customer databases for managing the business, as identified in the literature. However, the paper also shows use of more complex IS for managing the business in those firms taking a value-added approach to strategy. Levy et al (2001) provides the first evidence that it is possible to differentiate SMEs' strategic IS investments.

As the propensity to grow is one of the main distinguishing features of SMEs, an implicit dynamic is likely to be embedded in the focus-dominance model. Levy et al (2001) suggest that firms approach to IS investment can take one of two paths. The first is a change in focus from efficiency to co-ordination to manage an increasing customer base. The second path is from efficiency towards a value added strategy to improve collaboration with major customers. Levy et al (2002) explore this contention. Additionally Levy et al (2002) consider two approaches to dynamics identified in the literature. The first is that SMEs adopt a 'stages of growth' model to investment, including IS, as part of planned growth (Churchill and Lewis, 1983). This approach is questioned by Storey (1994) who suggests that the approach to growth, and hence investment, is dependent more on the owner, industry sector and structural factors such as location.

The focus-dominance model is used in this paper to analyse 43 SMEs' strategic IS adoption in the past, currently and the future. The data is taken from the detailed database the author developed that mapped SMEs IS investment behaviour over time. The analysis enables the dynamics, if any to be seen. The analysis shows that in the long term the dominant paths are either moving from efficiency to co-ordination or from efficiency to collaboration. Two firms plan a move directly from efficiency to innovation. In both cases the owners identified strategic opportunities from IS which they believe can change their market position. Storey's (1994) perspective is valid here: strategies for growth are a combination of the owner knowledge and experience, the firm's structure and organisation and the business strategy..

Seventeen of the case firms plan innovative use of IS in the longer term and here a "stages of growth" model may be observed as the owners recognise the need for structural change. However, this does not negate Storey's contention that the knowledge of the owner, the organisational structure and business strategy are important in planning growth. Thus, the focus-dominance model informed by Storey's analysis, appears to offer a useful means of considering dynamics in SMEs.

Knowledge Sharing and Co-opetition in SMEs – the IS role

The focus-dominance model suggested to us that there are different approaches to managing knowledge in SMEs and that this might impact on SMEs ability to work coopetively with their customers and share knowledge. Levy et al (2003) grew from knowledge that Philip Powell had of work carried out by Claudia Loebbecke and Paul Fenema using a game-theoretic approach to investigate knowledge sharing particularly in those firms that work in co-opetition (Loebbecke and van Fenema 1998).

Co-opetition is defined as a dual relationship between firms that can simultaneously be co-operating and competing (Brandenburger and Nalebuff 1996). Firms may work together as complementors to improve product quality and safety with a supplier while competing in the same market. Exchange of knowledge between firms to satisfy the requirements of this process may lead to benefits to the firms beyond the original intended use.

Levy et al (2003) explores explicit knowledge management in a new context, the SME. Four questions were posed in the paper. The first is whether co-opetition is an issue for SMEs. The second asks about the role of IS in managing knowledge in SMEs. The third question asks how co-opetition forces (synergy and leverage) manifest themselves in SMEs. The final question considers how SMEs may attempt to manage knowledge sharing.

Knowledge sharing is known to be essential for collaborative working (Kanter 1994). More than this, if partners expect to benefit from a relationship then they may well be in co-opetition, either collaborating or competing depending on the market circumstances. Knowledge sharing may benefit either or both partners positively or negatively. Loebbecke and Van Fenema's game theoretic model considers the influence of synergy and leverage on knowledge sharing. Synergy is defined as both firms gaining additional value from knowledge; while leverage is defined as when the partner receiving the knowledge gains more than the giver.

The focus-dominance model and the game-theoretic model are integrated to explore the potential of knowledge sharing under co-opetition in the four strategic IS investment scenarios for SMEs identified in **Levy et al (2001)**. The proposition of the model is that co-opetition is unlikely to be an issue for SMEs with a cost-focused strategy. However, those firms that take a value added approach, particularly those in the collaboration

scenario will find knowledge sharing of value. Firms in the repositioning¹ scenario may have an ambiguous attitude to knowledge sharing. This may be because their strategic positioning leads them to be protective of their knowledge, even though they value working co-opetively.

The method used in the paper is case analysis for two reasons. First, the research is exploratory and second multiple cases provide a useful means of identifying patterns. The case analysis was carried out by Philip Powell and the author separately and then reviewed together. Thirty-seven cases were taken from the extensive database of SMEs that developed by the author. The analysis focused on the use of the different management information systems found in the firms.

The research confirms that there is little or no interest in knowledge sharing in SMEs with an efficiency focus. Similar findings are seen in the co-ordination scenario, although four firms exhibit strong synergy and leverage which suggests an ambiguous attitude to knowledge sharing. Strong synergy may be due to the importance of knowledge sharing in product design, while strong leverage may be a function of firms using their knowledge to plan future growth.

In contrast value adding strategy firms, particularly in the collaboration scenario, do recognise the value of knowledge sharing. However, this is primarily in the area of production systems rather than in management or customer focused systems (as defined by Earl 1989). The final group of firms, in the repositioning scenario, value knowledge and utilise what they receive very effectively. However, there is some reluctance to

¹The innovation scenario discussed in **Levy et al** (2001) is renamed as the repositioning scenario as this more accurately describes the SMEs' actions i.e. repositioning themselves for future growth.

share knowledge if it is thought that it might affect their competitive position as both synergy and leverage are found to be strong.

To summarise, managing inter-organisational knowledge is important for sustaining competitive advantage. Co-opetition forces are seen to impact on SMEs, but only to a limited extent. Knowledge sharing primarily occurs in production systems in SMEs. SMEs do not seek to exploit their knowledge explicitly in either managing the firm or in providing customer support. The model development and analysis was primarily joint work with Philip Powell. Claudia Loebbecke confirmed the use of the game theoretic approach and contributed to ensuring the logic of the paper.

SMEs and Internet Adoption

In the late 1990s Internet technologies were becoming more widely available. Governments round the world identified SMEs as a high priority group that would benefit competitively from adopting internet technologies and e-business in particular. Government programmes to encourage adoption and to assist SMEs with such adoption multiplied. Internet adoption amongst SMEs was considered to be a critical issue by the UK government and considerable resources were made available to encourage uptake of internet technologies. There was very little research on the strategic value of Internet technologies for SMEs at this time. There was little appreciation in the literature of the different drivers for adoption by SMEs or acknowledgement of their heterogeneity. The author recognised the opportunity to identify whether internet technology adoption followed similar patterns to other IS investments in SMEs.

These papers reflect the outcome of three research projects the author was awarded from 1999 to 2002.

Levy and Powell (2003) questioned whether SMEs followed a Stages of Growth model of Internet adoption as posited in the IS literature (Costello and Tuchen, 1998; Willcocks and Sauer, 2000; Currie, 2000) or whether SME Internet adoption strategies are contingent on factors such as owners' attitude, business strategy, perceived benefits and customer influence in a similar fashion to their other IS investments. As the research was exploratory semi-structured interviews of between 1-2 hours were undertaken with 12 SME owners. The interviews reviewed business strategy, competitive influences and future internet potential as perceived by owners. Interview analysis was confirmed by the interviewees to validate the authors' understanding. The internet technologies in use in the case firms are used as a measure of the SMEs' recognition of the value of e-business. The research shows that SMEs do not follow a stages model, rather a segmentation strategy is seen based on whether business growth is planned or not and whether business value of the internet is high or low. There is little evidence that SMEs see e-business as a major change agent. The author developed and designed the research, undertook the case studies and the preliminary case analysis. Philip Powell and the author developed the segmentation strategy model jointly.

Following on from this research the author was asked by the West Midlands regional eenvoy to review and gain more detailed knowledge on the drivers for internet adoption among SMEs across the region in order to offer them better support. **Levy et al (2005)** investigate whether and in what way strategic intent affects SMEs attitude to e-business. The research approach used in this paper utilises the outcomes of a West Midlands wide survey. The value in using a survey is that is allows comparison between industries and strategic intent across the region. The author developed the survey questions with Les Worrall.

Three research questions are posed in Levy et al (2005). The first question focuses on whether strategic intent drives e-business adoption and whether it is a function of market position or product innovation. Levy et al (2005) show that SMEs remaining in their existing markets are the least likely to invest in e-business. The main finding, contrary to the literature at that time, is that product innovation rather than market penetration drives e-business. The second research question explored whether there is any difference between industry sectors. The research outcome is not clear. More research is needed to explore whether there is industry sector differentiation.

The final question is whether strategic intent is influenced by enablers and inhibitors of e-business adoption. The findings confirmed existing research that customer demand, increasing market share, avoiding loss of market share and improving on-line services are important enablers. This suggests that SMEs believe their strength lies in their market niches. The key outcome here is that firms whose strategic intent is product development perceive the need to improve online services as of lesser importance than reducing operating costs. Inhibitors of e-business adoption are confidentiality, fraud and cost. These findings concur with the literature. However, in contrast to the literature, limited IT skills and management unwillingness are not seen as inhibitors except in innovative firms following a diversification strategy.

The final paper in this group presents findings based on the author's European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) award of £315k over three years to evaluate internet adoption in Coventry and Warwickshire as part of a wider research project. **Beckinsale**

24

et al (2006) explores internet adoption influencers for SMEs. The author and Martin Beckinsale developed semi-structured interview questions to identify markets, customers, competitors and suppliers and institutional influencers (local internet adoption projects and government information) on SME internet adoption. Fifty SME owners whose firms participated in the ERDF project were interviewed. Interviews lasted between 1-2 hours and firms were visited at least twice over the duration of the three year research project. Interview reports were confirmed with the interviewees. The analysis identifies five different patterns or networks influencing behaviour on internet adoption amongst SMEs. The expert network tends to be hi-tech firms where staff and owners are highly knowledgeable about IS and the internet. Internet adoption is primarily influenced by customer requirements. The second group, the industry support network, introduces a further market influence, regulatory bodies, as well as customers. The next group, the customer-led network, is purely driven by customer demands. These three networks represent firms driven by market demands. The final two groups have no external pressures on them and are investigating opportunities rather than intending to invest. The first group, ICT support network, are firms that are looking to improve internal integration and the owner is investigating whether internet technologies can help. The final group, the Novice network, are not sure of the value of IS at all and are enquiring about possibilities.

The main outcome from the analysis is that competitors have no influence on internet adoption, it is only IS suppliers that have some influence. Local government funded internet projects are well supported and regulatory body support is instrumental, however, national government projects, such as UK online provide no influence. The other finding from this research is that internet adoption is more likely when SMEs have a planned strategy. Martin Beckinsale and the author designed the research approach together and Martin Beckinsale undertook the data collection. The analysis and writing was done jointly. Philip Powell supported the final development of the paper.

Strategies for Growth in SMEs: the role of Information and Information Systems

The final inclusion in this submission is Levy and Powell (2005). This book is the first authored book to study strategic IS in SMEs. It provides a valuable contribution to the study of IS in SMEs as it provides insights into IS theory from an SME perspective as well as providing new theories that help researchers understand strategic IS investment in SMEs. This book brings together the learning from the above papers and demonstrates their coherence as a theme: the strategic role of IS in managing SMEs. The strength of the book is that it describes the reasons in detail for studying both SMEs and IS. Case studies are used regularly to explore the main points in the discussion. The concepts from the papers are explored in greater detail in many cases by using an extended range of cases which increases the robustness of the research. The book not only develops theoretical ideas that have the antecedents in the papers described above, but also provides many case examples that enrich the theory.

The author used a sabbatical in 2003-4 to put the book together. Philip Powell and the author worked together on the structure and issues that the book contains. The author prepared the first draft. Philip Powell and the author worked together on developing and

polishing the finished product. There is no doubt that the author's sabbatical helped bring the project to fruition more quickly than it otherwise might have been.

Levy and Powell (2005) is organised in five sections. The first section defines and introduces the influences that affect SME growth. This includes the changing management structures that occur as SMEs grow. This discussion leads into issues of organising and managing SMEs including, briefly, the role of business systems. The first section of the book provides insights into the role of IS in managing firms and what this means for SMEs. It addresses issues of IS flexibility and IS evaluation in the light of this understanding. The second section introduces information systems strategy (ISS) demonstrating the dynamic relationship between ISS and competitiveness before discussing the value of strategic IS frameworks to understanding ISS in SMEs. Section two also shows the identification of relevant analytical IS tools towards the development of the organisational ISS approach for SMEs. It is completed by a detailed case study demonstrating the use of the approach. The third section introduces the concept of IS as a strategic resource in SMEs, in particular issues that may affect adoption and use of IS in SMEs. The issues raised in Levy et al (2001) and Levy et al (2002) are revisited and the arguments strengthened by utilising data from the 44 cases identified in section one of the book. Two further strategic IS issues are explored in this section: business transformation and strategic alignment. Business transformation as defined by Venkatraman (1994) is shown not to be followed by SMEs. SMEs are found to have limited strategic alignment as defined by Scott Morton (1991), although strategic alignment can be achieved by those SMEs for whom information systems are a strategic driver.

The fourth section in the book reflects on planning and managing knowledge including re-engineering in SMEs. Again these chapters provide some of the first empirical research that addresses these concepts. The co-opetition concepts described in Levy et al (2003) are reconsidered using an extended case analysis. The chapter considers the value of knowledge sharing for SMEs in building future partnerships, particularly with customers. The chapter on the role of core competencies in developing ISS, is based on Duhan et al (2001). This chapter explores whether the resource-based view (Miller and Shamsie 1996) provides a richer means of analysis for the development of information systems strategies in SMEs. The chapter shows that an understanding of core competences is useful when developing an SME information systems strategy. The final chapter in this section focuses on business process engineering (BPR). The chapter develops early research on the value of BPR to SMEs by Chang and Powell (1998). The chapter uses eight Taiwanese cases to explore Chang and Powell's framework. A revised model is developed that shows BPR success is dependent upon customer relations, IS investment and financial resources and empowered by innovation, employee empowerment, top management commitment and strategic direction.

The final section of the book looks towards the future. It investigates e-business opportunities for SMEs. The ideas from Levy and Powell (2003), Levy et al (2005) and an earlier version of Beckinsale et al (2006) are included here. The final chapter reviews the learning from the book. It includes a revised focus-dominance model that acknowledges the role of internet technologies. The chapter reminds readers of the importance of the role of the owner in making IS investment decisions in SMEs. The role of customers in knowledge sharing and in development of partnerships is identified

as critical in IS investment. ISS is important for SMEs, particularly those planning growth. There is potential leverage from knowledge and information that can benefit SMEs.

Contribution Summary, Methodology and Impact

This section summarises the contribution to knowledge from this submission. Methodological approaches are reviewed and justified. The impact of the research is discussed briefly.

Contribution Summary

The published works provide a significant contribution to understanding the role and value of strategic information systems to an under-researched constituency: small and medium-sized enterprises. Significantly for the study of strategic information systems, the published works provide evidence of the value of IS analytical tools and techniques for analysing strategic information requirements in new contexts. The application of these analytical tools and techniques within SMEs provides good evidence for their inclusion as part of the general body of strategic IS knowledge.

The converse is also true. There are a number of IS tools and techniques that are not useful in analysing SMEs, primarily because their organisational structures tend to be less formal than larger organisations. Also, SMEs tend to have fewer systems and less complexity which makes some IS analytical tools difficult or impossible to use. Therefore, context is an issue when using analytical tools.

The submission provides significant insights into the value of developing information systems strategies for SMEs. It shows that SMEs can benefit from such strategies in a similar way to larger firms. While previous research suggests that SMEs primarily take an operational focus to ISS (Blili and Raymond 1993), this submission demonstrates that ISS can be used to improve business effectiveness. The submission also confirms

the limited role of information systems in promoting competitive advantage in SMEs found in previous research.

This research finds that in the field of strategic IS it is possible to differentiate SMEs by two key factors. These are the role and importance of customers and the strategic focus of the business. The focus-dominance model developed in **Levy et al (2001)** identifies four scenarios for SMEs. The significance of this research is that it is the first to identify the different strategic IS requirements of different groups of SMEs. The research also finds that business growth paths differ for SMEs depending upon the owners' strategic objectives and this leads to different strategic IS development paths.

This differentiation is also identified in e-business adoption which is seen to be driven by potential for business value from the internet and growth strategies in SMEs. What this research clearly identifies is that "stages of growth" models are of limited importance to SMEs due to their different strategic perspectives. The research also identifies the role of intermediaries in e-business adoption and provides further evidence for the need for trust.

Methodology

The description of the papers in this submission includes discussion of the methodology used. This section reflects on different research approaches available to the IS researcher and their relevance to the research in this submission. The reasons why several of these were not selected is discussed briefly and the rationale for adopting the case approach which is the predominant methodology is discussed.
Many approaches have been taken to studying IS and therefore it is useful to reflect at this point on whether or not other approaches might have been used in this research. One of the best known taxonomies is that of Galliers (1992) who discusses strengths and weaknesses of different research approaches in the study of IS. Table 1 presents an adaptation of Galliers' taxonomy applied to the research in this submission. It shows that laboratory experiments and, to some extent field experiments, depend upon having a small number of well defined variables (Benbasat et al 1987). Field experiments do not address context (Cavaye 1996), which was one of the main drivers for this research. In the research discussed here there are many ill-defined variables therefore neither field nor laboratory experiments are suitable approaches. Surveys are useful in looking at relationships at one particular time as was seen in Levy et al (2005). In this paper variables are clearly defined and quantitative analysis is helpful in drawing out inferences. However, research issues in the other papers do not readily lend themselves to the survey methodology, particularly as the research seeks to understand causes and processes. Galliers (1992) indicates that surveys may be unable to address causes and processes. The research does not seek to model futures therefore forecasting and futures research is not suitable. Simulation is not possible as modelling the complexity of the real-life situation is one of the main purposes of the research. The subjective/argumentative approach is not appropriate as observation is thought to be important for this research rather than relying on the researchers' existing knowledge. Finally, action research is an approach that could be considered as practical assistance is given to the SMEs in the research but they were not involved in the learning process within the studies.

Research Approach	Key Features	Strengths	Weaknesses	Appropriateness for the author's research
Laboratory Experiments	Using analytical techniques to measure dependent variables while controlling independent variables in order to make generalisable statements about real life situations	Intensive study of a small number of variables in a controlled situation	Over-simplification of the experimental situation when compared to the real world	The research situation is to explore issues in the real life context. Variables are not clear nor are they limited. Analytical techniques could not be employed
Field Experiments	Extension of laboratory experiments into the organizational setting	Greater realism in the data collection	Difficult to find organizations to study in this way. Difficult to achieve sufficient control in the real world setting	While the real world setting is achieved, the issue of not knowing the limited number of variables makes this approach unsuitable
Surveys	Looking at relationships at a particular moment in time using questionnaires or interviews. Using quantitative analytical techniques to draw out inferences	Can study many variables. Can describe real world situations. Can make generalizations as outcomes derived from a large population	Limited insight into the causes/processes being studies. Possible bias in respondents, the researcher and the timing of the research	This approach has been used in Levy et al (2005). The research sought to understand at a particular moment in time whether a particular set of issues influenced internet adoption in SMEs. In the other papers the relationships are not clearly known and quantitative analytical techniques are therefore not appropriate
Case Studies	An attempt to describe relationships which exit in reality in a single or multiple organizations	Able to capture the real world situation in greater detail and analysing more variables than is possible in the above approaches	Difficult to generalize, given problems of obtaining data from statistically meaningful number of cases. Lack of control of variables. Different interpretation of events by individual researchers.	Access to a wide range of SMEs was possible for the research discussed in this submission. The main control was size rather than other factors such as industry. Multiple sources of data including interviews, observation and documentation ensure robust analysis that describes relationships. Validity testing reduces researcher bias.
Forecasting, futures research	Deduction about future events or impacts using regression analysis, time series analysis or Delphi	Provides insights into potential future situations if the current relationships may not	Lack of real knowledge of future events. Scenarios are representations that are only as good as the past data and	This research seeks to look at current organizational relationships to understand the different drivers for IS adoption. It does not seek to model future events

Simulation, game/role playing	An attempt to copy the behaviour of a system which might be difficult to solve analytically, by the introduction of random variables	last. Attempts to deal with rapid changes in IS and its impact on society and organizations Provides an opportunity to study situations that might be impossible to analyse	the abilities of the researchers Similar to experimental research as it is difficult to devise a simulation that reflects the real world situation	This approach is again not suitable to this research as the complexity of the situation is not clearly understood nor are the variables identified
Subjective/argumen tative (cf phenomenology, hermeneutics)	Creative research based more on opinion/speculation than observation, thereby placing greater emphasis on the role/perspective of the researcher.	Useful in building theory that can subsequently be tested. Creation of new insights and ideas. Recognition that the researcher will interpret what is being studies in a particular way. Contributes to cumulative knowledge	Unstructured, subjective nature of research process. Despite making the prejudice of the researcher known, this is likely to bias the interpretations	This research required observation and analysis of real life situations in order to build knowledge that could be used to test existing concepts in IS research and also to develop new ones. It was important to the research to avoid researcher bias. Thus this research approach is not appropriate
Action Research	Applied research where there is an attempt to both add to theoretical knowledge as well as provide practical assistance with a real life issue. Learning is gained by the researcher and the research subject. The researcher is an actor in the research process	Practical as well as theoretical outcomes that enable the organization to develop and grow. The researcher's biases are known.	Similar to case study research but places more responsibility on the researcher as they are part of the research process. The ethics of the researcher might be an issue	It could be argued that the case studies in this research were a form of action research as practical assistance was provided in the form of advice on strategic information systems that would improve efficiency, effectiveness and competitiveness. However, researchers were not embedded within the firms nor were the staff in the firms involved in the process, thus there was not transferred learning.

Table 1: Comparison of IS research Approaches (adapted from Galliers 1992:150-152)

The case study has been the predominant approach taken as the research objective is to understand relationships within organizations. As Galliers (1992) argues case research in the study of information systems is useful as it enables descriptions of organizational relationships to be made that reflect real life. Case studies provide a rich medium for understanding organizational issues and information flows (Walsham 1993, Eisenhardt 1989). SMEs organizational structures and processes, while simpler than large firms, tend to be more informal, hence a case approach provides a means of understanding relationships and information flows. Yin (1994) suggests that cases are particularly useful when investigating real life situations, especially when there is a need to appreciate the views of several sources of evidence. In this research submission the evidence is variously the views of managers and staff in the case firms, documentation such as business plans and accounts, as well as researcher observation of the business processes and systems.

In the submitted papers the research is seeking understanding and also eliciting meaning from behaviour within a social context (Cavaye 1996). Thus an interpretive case approach is used to understand a little known phenomenon: the role of IS in SMEs. Theory is used to guide the design of the research as suggested by Walsham (1995).

Apart from Levy and Powell (1997), the other case-based papers use multiple case studies. Multiple case studies provide more compelling evidence and lead to the study being considered more robust (Yin 1994:45, Darke et al 1998). As has been discussed previously, SMEs are heterogeneous, thus multiple cases are necessary to identify whether similar or different patterns emerge that can explain their attitudes to IS. As Eisenhardt and Graebner (2007) argue, multiple cases are helpful in theory building as they enable research questions to be explored in more depth. The use of

multiple cases is considered to lead to more generalisable theory (Eisenhardt and Graebner, 2007). Patterns of behaviour are identified through researchers coding their observations and interview data. Data gathering and analysis continues until patterns emerge and confirm the research question (Glaser and Strauss 1965). **Ballantine et al (1998), Levy and Powell (1998) and Levy et al (1999)** use four detailed cases to explore existing IS tools and techniques. In these cases the detailed descriptions of the cases as well as the model analysis through use of data matrices provides sufficient understanding to draw out inferences about the research issues. The data matrices are discussed in detail in **Levy et al (2002), Levy at al (2003), Levy and Powell (2003), Beckinsale et al (2006)** - exploration of patterns leading to the development of theory required more cases to be analysed. The data matrices are developed for all the cases by the author and reviewed by collaborators independently.

Overall, the case approach has been found to be the most useful in developing understanding and analysis of the use of strategic IS in SMEs.

Impact

The impact from these papers can be seen from the number of citations listed in Appendix 3. The papers provide researchers with both new ideas that contribute to the on-going development of the study of IS in SMEs, which is a rapidly growing field of research. The focus-dominance model (Levy et al 2001) is recognised as a useful way of understanding IS adoption in SMEs. Ballantine et al (1998) is also an influential paper that is cited widely as it demonstrates the role of evaluation in SMEs.

Levy and Powell (2005) is seen as a useful resource by researchers, judging by its steady sales.

Practically, the concepts in Levy et al (1999) and Levy and Powell (2000) contributed to the development of an MBA module on ISS that enabled students to work with SMEs in developing an ISS. Student learning benefitted from both practical experience and also the reflective process enabling them to appreciate the extant knowledge of information systems strategy. SMEs benefitted from the process through the delivery of a company based information systems strategy. MBA students have since used the concepts as a basis for their dissertations and to develop their own approaches to ISS that help them develop their consultancies.

Current and Future Research

This section reviews current research on strategic alignment of IS in SMEs which shows that SMEs follow different paths to strategic alignment contingent upon their position in the Focus-Dominance model. Future research into the role of innovative technologies in supporting competitiveness within SMEs is outlined.

Current Research

Levy et al (2001) and Levy et al (2002) led Philip Powell, Philip Yetton and the author to consider how strategic alignment could influence strategic IS adoption in SMEs. Strategic alignment of IS has long been an issue of concern to researchers seeking to understand the relationship between business strategy, technology adoption and organizational structure. It is believed that strategic alignment sustains competitive advantage (Avison et al 2004).

Alignment requires consistency between decisions taken in each domain to ensure fit with both internal and external environments (Yetton and Sauer 1997). Philip Yetton's knowledge and research on strategic alignment led to him, Philip Powell and the author to undertake research on alignment in SMEs.

This research considers the classic model of strategic alignment, the MIT90s (Scott Morton 1991). This model suggests a path to alignment or fit that considers strategy then structure followed by alignment of management processes, technology, roles and skills. Later research Yetton et al (1994) and Hsiao and Ormerod (1998) find different paths to alignment. This suggests that the choice of path may be context contingent. In the SME context this is supported by Levy et al (2001) which argues that choices about IS are a function of the location in the Focus-Dominance model. This suggested that SMEs may choose different paths through the MIT90s model

dependent upon their location in the Focus-Dominance model. The general question of the research is to investigate whether and if this is the case and what the different paths might be.

Future Research

Most SMEs have long been thought to be cautious in their adoption of new technologies, often not being able to identify business benefits. The Focus-Dominance model goes some way to explain the reasons for this. The model is revised in the final chapter of **Levy and Powell (2005)** to include Internet tools such as e-mail and web services. This suggests that SMEs follow a similar path to adoption with innovative technologies as with more traditional management information systems.

Future research could investigate whether this is the case by initially considering Radio Frequency Identification (RFId) technologies. These have been widely adopted over the last decade primarily to enhance supply chain efficiency (Loebbecke and Palmer, 2006). Two small grants from Advantage West Midlands and Warwick Business School with Stephen Roper are enabling the research to progress. The approach to investment by SMEs into other innovative technologies such as Web 2.0 and cloud computing should provide additional evidence on patterns of adoption.

39

Conclusions

The knowledge presented in this submission highlights the development of thirteen years of research into strategic IS investment in SMEs. This document identifies the reasons for considering such a study and demonstrates that it is possible to understand the different drivers for investment by SMEs. In particular, it is clear that the business objectives and strategies of SME owners as well as their market position as indicated by customer dominance are critical in decisions on strategic IS adoption.

The development of the research from exploring the value of strategic IS models and a new approach to information systems strategy in SMEs to identification of the different drivers strategic IS investment, leading to new model development, is discussed. The acknowledgement of SME heterogeneity in strategic IS investment led to further exploration of knowledge management and e-business. Strategic IS investment in e-business is a final theme that is explored in later papers, which both critique existing concepts and develops new models that are applicable to SMEs. The contribution to knowledge is discussed and the rationale for the methodology used. Current research on strategic alignment and future research on adoption of innovative technologies in SMEs is discussed in the context of the papers included here. The research is shown to have had impact on the research community as well as practical use in teaching.

These papers demonstrate that the first research theme that IS adoption may depend upon the nature of the SME has been addressed through the identification of the four scenarios of the Focus-Dominance model. This model has been shown to be a useful means of exploring SMEs' strategic adoption decisions The second research theme investigating the value of IS concepts in the SME context shows that not all IS concepts and models are transferable from the large firm environment in which they are developed nor are they context independent.

The document shows the author's development over time as well as the development of collaborative relationships that have enabled the growth of a clear body of knowledge that contributes to current research in the field strategic IS investment in SMEs as shown by the citations.

References

Highlighted papers are the author's submitted papers.

Acs, Z. and Mueller, P. (2008) Employment effects of business dynamics: Mice, Gazelles and Elephants, *Small Business Economics*, 30, 85-100

Avison, D., Eardley, W. and Powell, P. (1998) Suggestions for Capturing Corporate Vision in Strategic Information Systems, *Omega, International Journal of Management Science*, 26, 4, 441-459

Avison, D., Jones, J., Powell, P., and Wilson, D. (2004) Using and validating the strategic alignment model, *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 13, 3, 223-246.

Ballantine, J., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1998) Evaluating information systems in small and medium-sized enterprises: issues and evidence, *European Journal of Information Systems*, 7, 241–251

Beckinsale, M., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2006) Exploring Internet Adoption Drivers in SMEs, *Electronic Markets*, 16, 4, 361-370

Benbasat, I, Goldstein, D. and Mead, M (1987) The Case Research Strategy in Studies of Information Systems, *MIS Quarterly*, September 1987, 369-385

Bianchi, C. (2002) Introducing SD modelling into planning and control systems to manage SMEs' growth: a learning-oriented perspective, *Systems Dynamics Review*, 18, 3, 315-338

Blili, S. and Raymond, L. (1993) Information Technology: Threats and Opportunities for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises, *International Journal of Information Management*, 13, 439-448

Brandenburger, A. and Nalebuff, B. (1996) Co-opetition, Doubleday, New York

Burns, P. (2001) Entrepreneurship and Small Business, Palgrave, Hampshire, UK

Caldeira, M. and Ward, J. (2002) Understanding the successful adoption and use of IS?IT in SMEs: an explanation from Portuguese manufacturing industries, *Information Systems Journal*, 12, 121-152

Cavaye, A. (1996) Case Study Research: a multi-faceted research approach for IS, *Information Systems Journal*, 6, 227-242

Chang, L., and Powell, P. (1998), 'Toward a framework for Business Process Reengineering in SMEs', *Information Systems Journal*, 8, 3, 199-216

Checkland, P. B. (1981) Systems Thinking, Systems Practice, J Wiley & Sons.

Churchill, N. C. and Lewis, V. L.(1983) The Five Stages of Small Business Growth, *Harvard Business Review*, May/June, 61, 3, 30-40

Costello, G. and Tuchen, J. (1998) A Comparative Study of business to consumer electronic commerce within the Australian insurance sector, Journal of Information Technology, 13, 153-167

Cragg, P. and King, M. (1992) Growth in Small Firm Computing, *Research Report Series*, Department of Management Systems, University of Waikato, ISSN 1170-733X

Cragg, P. and Zinatelli, N (1995) Evolution of IS in small firms, Information and Management, 29, 1-8

Currie, W. (2000) The Global Information Society, J. Wiley and Sons, Chichester UK

Darke, P., Shanks, G. and Broadbent, M. (1998) Successfully completing case study research: combining rigour, relevance and pragmatism, *Information Systems Journal*, 8, 273-289

Duhan, S., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2001) Information systems strategies in knowledgebased SMEs: the role of core competencies, *European Journal of Information Systems*, 10, 25–40

Eardley, A., Avison, D. and Powell, P. (1997) Strategic Information Systems: An Analysis of Development Techniques which Seek to Incorporate Strategic Flexibility, *Journal of Organizational Computing*, 7, 1, 57-77

Earl, M. J. (1989) Management Strategies for Information Technology, Prentice Hall International (UK) London, UK

Earl, M. J. (1996) An Organisational Approach to IS Strategy-Making, in Earl M J (Ed) Information Management, Oxford University Press, Oxford

Eisenhardt, K. (1989) 'Building theories from case study research', Academy of Management Review, 14, 532-550.

Eisenhardt, K. and Graebner, M. (2007) Theory Building from Cases: Opportunities and Challenges, Academy of Management Journal, 50, 1, 25-32

Evans, J.S. (1991) Strategic flexibility for high technology manoeuvres: a conceptual framework, *Journal of Management Studies*, 28, 1, 69-89.

Farbey, B., Land, F. and Targett, D. (1992) Evaluating investments in IT, *Journal of Information Technology*, 7, 109-122.

Farbey, B., Land , F. and Targett, D. (1993) How to Assess Your IT Investment A study of Methods and Practice. Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, UK

Foong, S-Y. (1999) Effect of End User Personal and Systems Attributes on Computer based Information Systems Success in Malaysian SMEs, *Journal of Small Business Management*, July, 37, 3, 81-87

Galliers, R. D. (1987), Information Systems Planning in the UK and Australia - a comparison of current practice, Oxford Surveys in Information Technology, Oxford University Press, UK, 4, 223-235

Galliers, R.D. (1992) Choosing Information Systems Research Approaches, in Galliers, R.D. Information Systems Research: Issues Methods and Guidelines, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford

Glaser, B. and Strauss, A. (1965) Discovery of Substantive Theory: A basic strategy underlying qualitative research, The American Behavioral Scientist, February 1965, 5-12

Gray, C. (2002) Entrepreneurship, resistance to change and growth in small firms, *Journal of Small Business Development*, 9, 1, 61-72

Hagmann, C. and McCahon, C. (1993) Strategic Information Systems and Competitiveness. Information and Management, 25, 183-192.

Hsiao, R., and Ormerod, R. (1998) A new perspective on the dynamics of IT-enabled strategic change, *Information Systems Journal*, 8, 1, 21-52.

Kanter, R. M. (1994) Collaborative Advantage: The Art of Alliances, *Harvard Business Review*, July -August, 96-108.

Keindl, B. (2000) Competitive Dynamics and New Business Models for SMEs in the Virtual Marketplace, *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, April, 5, 1, 73-85

Lawson, R., Alcock, C., Cooper, J. and Burgess, L. (2003) Factors Affecting adoption of electronic commerce technologies by SMEs: an Australian study, *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 10, 3, 265-276

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1997) Assessing the value of information systems planning at Heath Springs. *International Journal of Technology Management*, 13, 426-442.

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1998) SME flexibility and the role of information systems, *Small Business Economics*, 11, 183-196.

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Galliers, R. (1999) Assessing information systems strategy development frameworks in SMEs. *Information & Management*, 36, 247-261.

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2000) Information Strategy for SMEs: an Organisational Perspective, *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 9, 1, 63-84

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2001) SMEs: aligning IS and the strategic context. *Journal of Information Technology*, 16, 133-144.

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2002) The dynamics of SME information systems. *Small Business Economics*, 19, 341-354.

Levy, M. And Powell, P. (2003) Exploring SME Internet Adoption Issues: Towards a Contingent Model, *Electronic Markets*, 13, 2, 173-181

Levy, M., Loebbecke, C. and Powell, P. (2003) SMEs, co-opetition and knowledge sharing: the role of information systems. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 12, 3-17.

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Worrall, L. (2005) Strategic Intent and E-Business in SMEs: Enablers and Inhibitors *Information Resources Management Journal*, 18, 4, 1-20

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2005) Strategies for Growth in SMEs: the role of Information and Information Systems, Butterworth Heinemann

Loebbecke, C. and Van Fenema, P. (1998). *Towards a Theory of Inter-organizational Knowledge Sharing during Co-opetition*, Baets W (Ed.) Proceedings of Sixth European Conference on IS, Aix-en-Provence. Euro-Arab Management School

Loebbecke, C. and Palmer, J. (2006) RFID in the Fashion Industry: Kaufhof Department Stores aG and Gerry Weber International aG, Fashion Manufacturer, *MIS Quarterly Executive*, 5,2, 15-25

Miller, D. and Shamsie, J. (1996): The Resource-Based View of the Firm in Two Environments: The Hollywood Film Studios from 1936 to 1965, *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 3, 519-543

Morrison, A., Breen, J., Shameem, A. (2003) Small Business Growth: Intention, Ability and Opportunity, *Journal of Small Business Management*, 41, 4, 417-425

OECD (2004) OECD Compendium II On SME And Entrepreneurship Related Activities Carried Out By International and Regional Bodies.

Porter, M. E. (1980) Competitive Strategy, The Free Press, New York, USA

Porter, M.E. and Millar, V.E. (1985) How Information Gives You Competitive Advantage, *Harvard Business Review*, July-August, 63, 4, 140-160.

Proudlock, M., Phelps, B. and Gamble, P. (1998) IS Decision-making: a study in information-intensive firms, *Journal of Information Technology*, 13, 1, 44-66

SBS (2003): www.sbs.gov.uk/statistics/smedefs.php

Scott Morton, M. (1991) The Corporation of the 1990s, Information Technology and Organisational Transformation, Oxford University Press: Oxford

Storey, D. (1994) Understanding the Small Business Sector, Routledge, London, UK

Storey, D. J. and Cressy, R. (1995) Small Business Risk: A Firm and Bank Perspective, Working Paper, SME Centre, Warwick Business School, University of Warwick, UK

Storey, D. and Sykes, N. (1996) Uncertainty, innovation and management, in Burns P and Dewhurst J (Eds.) Small Business and Entrepreneurship, 2nd ed. Macmillan, UK

Thong, J. (2001) Resource Constraints and information systems implementation in Singaporean small businesses, *Omega*, 143-156

Walsham, G. (1993) *Interpreting Information Systems in Organisations*, J Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester UK.

Walsham, G. (1995) Interpretive Case Studies in IS Research: nature and method, *European Journal of Information Systems*, 4, 74-81

Willcocks, L. (1992) Evaluating Information Technology Investments; Research Findings and Reappraisal, *Journal of Information Systems*, 2, 243-268

Willcocks, L and Sauer, C. (2000) Moving to E-Business: An Introduction in Willcocks L, Sauer C and Associates, Moving to E-Business, Random House

Yetton, P., Johnston, K. and Craig, J. (1994) Computer-Aided Architects: A Case Study of IT and Strategic Change, *Sloan Management Review*, Summer, 57-66

Yetton, P., and Sauer, C. The Paths Ahead. In, Sauer C., and Yetton P., (eds.), *Steps to the future*, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1997.

Yin, R. (1994), Case Study Research. Design and Methods. Sage. California.

Appendix 1: Written statements by collaborators

Appendix 2: Contribution to the submitted papers by the PhD candidate

	Papers		Co-/	Autho	rs %a	ages			
		ML	PP	PY	CL	JB	MB	RDG	LW
1	Levy et al (1999)	80	15					5	
2	Levy and Powell (1997)	80	20						
3	Levy and Powell (2000)	80	20						
4	Levy and Powell (1998)	50	50						
5	Ballantine et al (1998)	40	30			30			
6	Levy et al (2001)	40	30	30					
7	Levy et al (2002)	40	30	30					
8	Levy et al (2003)	40	40		20				
9	Levy and Powell (2003)	80	20						
10	Levy et al (2005)	50	10						40
11	Beckinsale et al (2006)	40	20				40		
12	Levy and Powell (2005)	60	40						

CL: Claudia Loebekke JB: Joan Ballantine LW: Les Worrall MB: Martin Beckinsale ML: Margi Levy PP: Philip Powell PY: Philip Yetton RDG: Bob Galliers

My contribution to the published papers is the equivalent of 6.2 single authored papers. The book is not included in this summation

Appendix 3: Citations

Paper	Citation
Levy et al (1999)	Bai,R. J. & Lee, G. G. (2003) Organizational factors
	influencing the quality of the IS/IT strategic planning process.
	Industrial Management & Data Systems, 103, 622-632.
	Delisle, S., St Pierre, J. & Copeck, T. (2006) A hybrid
	diagnostic-advisory system for small and medium-sized
	enterprises: A successful AI application. Applied Intelligence,
	24, 127-141
	Hedman, J and Kalling, T (2003) The business model
	concept: theoretical underpinnings and empirical illustrations,
	European Journal Of Information Systems, 12, 1, 49-59
	Zheng, J., Caldwell, N., Christine Harland, C., Powell, P.,
	Woerndl, M. And S. Xu, S. (2004) Small Firms And E-
	Business: Cautiousness, Contingency And Cost-Benefit,
	Journal Of Purchasing And Supply Management, 10, 1, 27-39
	Lee, G. G. & Pai, J. C. (2003) Effects of organizational
	context and inter-group behaviour on the success of strategic
	Information systems planning: an empirical study. Benaviour
	a Information Technology, 22, 205-280.
	from third party web services: An action research analysis
	Journal of Strategic Information Systems 15, 273-291
	Riverd S. Reymond I. & Verregult D. (2006) Resource-
	hased view and competitive strategy: An integrated model of
	the contribution of information technology to firm
	performance. Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 15.
	29-50.
	Subramanian, G. H. & Nosek, J. T. (2001) An empirical study
	of the measurement and instrument validation of perceived
	strategy value of information systems. Journal of Computer
	Information Systems, 41, 64-69.
	Wall, B., Jagdev, H. & Browne, J. (2005) An approach to
	developing an eBusiness roadmap. Production Planning &
	Control, 16, 701-715.
Levy and Powell (1997)	Ferneley, E. & Bell, F. (2006) Using bricolage to integrate
	business and information technology innovation in SMEs.
	<i>Technovation</i> , 26, 232-241.
	McGovern, T. & Hicks, C. (2004) How political processes
	shaped the IT adopted by a small make-to-order company: a
	case study in the insulated wire and cable industry.
	Information & Management, 42, 243-257.
Levy and Powell (2000)	Cragg, P., King, M. and Hussin, H, (2002) IT alignment and
	firm performance in small manufacturing firms, <i>Journal of</i>
	strategic information systems, 11, 2,109-132
	Li, M., Wand, J., Wong, Y. and Lee, K. (2005), A
	collaborative application portal for the mould industry,
	International Journal of Production Economics, 96, 2, 233-
	247.

	Lockett, N. (2004) Small Business E-Commerce Management International Small Business Journal, 22, 6, 622-624
	Salmeron, J. and Bueno, S. (2006), An information technologies and information systems industry-based classification in small and medium-sized enterprises: An institutional view, <i>European Journal of Operational</i> <i>Research</i> , 173, 1012–1025
Levy and Powell (1998)	Alpkan, L., Yilmaz, C. & Kaya, N. (2007) Market orientation and planning flexibility in SMEs - Performance implications and an empirical investigation. <i>International Small Business</i> <i>Journal</i> , 25, 152-172.
	Arbore, A. & Ordanini, A. (2006) Broadband divide among SMEs - The role of size, location and outsourcing strategies. <i>International Small Business Journal</i> , 24, 83-99
	Carmel, E. & Nicholson, B. (2005) Small firms and offshore software outsourcing: High transaction costs and their mitigation. <i>Journal of Global Information Management</i> , 13, 33-54.
	Davies, A. J. & Garcia-Sierra, A. J. (1999) Implementing electronic commerce in SMEs - three case studies. <i>Bt</i> <i>Technology Journal</i> , 17, 97-111
	De Berranger, P. & Meldrum, M. C. R. (2000) The development of intelligent local clusters to increase global competitiveness and local cohesion: The case of small businesses in the creative industries. <i>Urban Studies</i> , 37, 1827- 1835.
	De Berranger, P., Tucker, D. & Jones, L. (2001) Internet diffusion in creative micro-businesses: Identifying change agent characteristics as critical success factors. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce</i> , 11, 197-214.
	Felsenstein, D. & Fleischer, A. (2002) Small-scale entrepreneurship and access to capital in peripheral locations: An empirical analysis. <i>Growth and Change</i> , 33, 196-215
	Mcgovern, T. & Hicks, C. (2004) How political processes shaped the IT adopted by a small make-to-order company: a case study in the insulated wire and cable industry. <i>Information & Management</i> , 42, 243-257.
	Meijaard, J., Brand, M. J. & Mosselman, M. (2005) Organizational structure and performance in Dutch small firms. <i>Small Business Economics</i> , 25, 83-96.
	Raymond, L. & Croteau, A. M. (2006) Enabling the strategic development of SMEs through advanced manufacturing systems - A configurational perspective. <i>Industrial</i> <i>Management & Data Systems</i> , 106, 1012-1032.
	Raymond, L. & St-Pierre, J. (2005) Antecedents and performance outcomes of advanced manufacturing systems sophistication in SMEs. <i>International Journal of Operations</i> & <i>Production Management</i> , 25, 514-533
	Street, C. T. & Meister, D. B. (2004) Small business growth and internal transparency: The role of information systems.

	MIS Quarterly, 28, 473-506.
	Walton, S. and Metters, R, (2008) Production planning by
	spreadsheet for a start-up firm, Production Planning &
	Control, 19, 6, 556-566
Ballantine et al (1998)	Brown, D. H. & Lockett, N. (2004) Potential of critical e-
	applications for engaging SMEs in e-business: a provider
	perspective. European Journal of Information Systems, 13,
	21-34.
	Caldeira, M. M. & Ward, J. M. (2003) Using resource-based
	theory to interpret the successful adoption and use of
	information systems and technology in manufacturing small
	and medium-sized enterprises. European Journal of
	Information Systems, 12, 127-141.
	Chou, I. Y., Chou, S. C. I. & Izeng, G. H. (2006) Evaluating
	approach European Journal of Operational Passarch 173
	1026-1046.
	Daniel, E. M. & Grimshaw, D. J. (2002) An exploratory
	comparison of electronic commerce adoption in large and
	small enterprises. Journal of Information Technology, 17,
	133-147.
	Daniel, E. M. & White, A. (2005) The future of inter-
	organisational system linkages: findings of an international
	Delphi study. European Journal of Information Systems, 14,
	100-203. Devideon E. & Chiesson M. (2005) Contextual influences on
	baviuson, E. & Chiasson, M. (2003) Contextual influences on technology use mediation: a comparative analysis of
	electronic medical record systems <i>Furopean Journal of</i>
	Information Systems 14, 6-18
	Ferneley, E. & Bell, F. (2006) Using bricolage to integrate
	business and information technology innovation in SMEs.
	<i>Technovation</i> , 26, 232-241
	Grandon, E. E. & Pearson, J. M. (2004) Electronic commerce
	adoption: an empirical study of small and medium US
	businesses. Information & Management, 42, 197-216.
	Harland, C. M., Caldwell, N. D., Powell, P. & Zheng, J.
	(2007) Barriers to supply chain information integration: SMEs
	adrift of eLands. Journal of Operations Management, 25,
	1234-1254
	Heo, J. & Han, I. G. (2003) Performance measure of
	information systems (IS) in evolving computing
	environments: an empirical investigation. Information &
	Management, 40, 243-256
	Huerta, E. & Sanchez, P. J. (1999) Evaluation of information
	Information Systems 8, 273-283
	I ee V & Kozar K Δ (2006) Investigating the effect of
	website quality on e-business success. An analytic hierarchy
	process (AHP) approach. Decision Support Systems 42, 1383-
	1401
	Love, P. E. D., Irani, Z., Standing, C., Lin, C. & Burn, J. M.
	(2005) The enigma of evaluation: benefits, costs and risks of
	IT in Australian small-medium-sized enterprises. Information
	& Management, 42, 947-964.

	Street, C. T. & Meister, D. B. (2004) Small business growth
	and internal transparency: The role of information systems.
	<i>Mis Quarterly</i> , 28, 473-506
Levy et al (2001)	Albors, J., Hervas, J. L. & Marquez, P. (2006) Contingent
	adoption of production technology in the spanish tile ceramic
	cluster. An empirical study. Boletin De La Sociedad Espanola
	De Ceramica Y Vidrio, 45, 338-345.
	Bakker, E., Zheng, J., Knight, L. & Harland, C. (2008) Putting
	e-commerce adoption in a supply chain context. International
	Journal of Operations & Production Management, 28, 313-
	330
	Bayo-Moriones, A. & Lera-Lopez, F. (2007) A firm-level
	analysis of determinants of ICT adoption in Spain.
	Technovation, 27, 352-366
	Beckinsale, M. & Ram, M. (2006) Delivering ICT to ethnic
	minority businesses: an action-research approach.
	Environment and Planning C-Government and Policy, 24,
	847-867
	Bernroider, E. W. N. (2008) IT governance for enterprise
	resource planning supported by the DeLone-McLean model of
	information systems success. Information & Management, 45,
	257-269.
	Boddy, D. & Paton, R. (2005) Maintaining alignment over the
	long-term: lessons from the evolution of an electronic point of
	sale system. Journal of Information Technology, 20, 141-151
	Brady, M., Fellenz, M. R. & Brookes, R. (2008) Researching
	the role of information and communications technology (ICT)
	in contemporary marketing practices. Journal of Business &
	Industrial Marketing, 23, 108-114.
	Brown DH, Lockett N (2004) Potential of critical e-
	applications for engaging SMEs in e-business: a provider
	perspective European Journal Of Information Systems 13 (1):
	21-34 MAR 2004
	Chan, Y. E., Sabherwal, R. & Thatcher, J. B. (2006)
	Antecedents and outcomes of strategic IS alignment: An
	empirical investigation. Ieee Transactions on Engineering
	Management, 53, 27-47
	Ferneley, E. & Bell, F. (2006) Using bricolage to integrate
	business and information technology innovation in SMEs.
	<i>Technovation</i> , 26, 232-241.
	Harland, C. M., Caldwell, N. D., Powell, P. & Zheng, J.
	(2007) Barriers to supply chain information integration: SMEs
	adrift of eLands. Journal of Operations Management, 25,
	1234-1254
	Lockett, N. & Brown, D. H. (2006) Aggregation and the role
	of trusted third parties in SME e-business engagement - A
	regional policy issue. International Small Business Journal,
	24, 379-404.
	Mcfadzean, E., Ezingeard, J. N. & Birchall, D. (2007)
	Perception of risk and the strategic impact of existing IT on
	information security strategy at board level. Online
	Information Review, 31, 622-660
	Mcgovern, T. & Hicks, C. (2004) How political processes
	shaped the IT adopted by a small make-to-order company: a

	case study in the insulated wire and cable industry.
	Information & Management, 42, 243-257.
	Peslak, A. R. (2008) Organizational information systems:
	Rate of return and influencing variables as viewed by top
	financial executives. Industrial Management & Data Systems,
	108, 43-59
	Ramdani B, Kawalek P (2007) SMEs & IS innovations
	adoption: A review & assessment of previous research
	Academia-Revista Latinoamericana De Administracion, 39,
	47-70
Levy et al (2002)	Al-Qirim, N. (2007) The adoption of eCommerce
	communications and applications technologies in small
	businesses in New Zealand. Electronic Commerce Research
	and Applications, 6, 462-473.
	Amoros, J.E., Planellas, M. and Batista-Foguet, J.M. (2007)
	Does Internet technology improve performance in small and
	medium enterprises? Evidence from selected Mexican firms,
	Academia-Revista Latinoamericana De Administracion, 39,
	71-92
	Beckinsale, M. & Ram, M. (2006) Delivering ICT to ethnic
	minority businesses: an action-research approach.
	Environment and Planning C-Government and Policy, 24,
	847-867
	Dagdilelis, V., Satratzemi, M. & Evangelidis, G. (2003)
	Implementing a nationwide system for training very small
	enterprises for ICT innovation: the Greek case. Educational
	Technology & Society, 6, 26-31
	Foreman-Peck, J., Makepeace, G. & Morgan, B. (2006)
	Growth and profitability of small and medium-sized
	enterprises: Some Welsh evidence. Regional Studies, 40, 307-
	319.
	Love, P. E. D., Irani, Z., Standing, C., Lin, C. & Burn, J. M.
	(2005) The enigma of evaluation: benefits, costs and risks of
	IT in Australian small-medium-sized enterprises. <i>Information</i>
1 (2002)	& Management, 42, 947-964.
Levy et al (2003)	Chin, K. S., Chan, B. L. & Lam, P. K. (2008) Identifying and
	prioritizing critical success factors for coopetition strategy.
	Industrial Management & Data Systems, 108, 437-454
	Lockett, N. J. (2008) Information technology and small
	business: Antecedents and consequences of technology
	adoption. International Small Business Journal, 26, 121-122
	Ruiz-Mercader, J., Merono-Cerdan, A. L. & Sabater-Sanchez,
	R. (2006) Information technology and learning: Their
	relationship and impact on organisational performance in
	small businesses. International Journal of Information
	Management, 20, 10-29.
	Znang, M. & Sarker, S. (2008) Unpacking the effect of IT
	capability on the performance of export-focused SMES: a
	Theory M. Contern S. & Mean Line L. (2008) March
	Znang, M., Sarker, S. & Mccullough, J. (2008) Measuring
	information technology capability of export-focused small or
	neurum sized enterprises in China: Scale development and
	vanuation. <i>Journal of Global Information Management</i> , 16, 1-
	20

	Yang, H. and Wu, T. (2008) Knowledge sharing in an organization <i>Technological Forecasting And Social Change</i> 75, 8, 1128-1156
Levy and Powell (2003)	Raymond, L., Bergeron, F. and Blili, S. (2005) The Assimilation of E-business in Manufacturing SMEs: Determinants and Effects on Growth and Internationalization <i>Electronic Markets</i> , 15, 2,106 - 118
Levy et al (2005)	Harindranath, G., Dyerson, R. and Barnes, D. (2008) ICT Adoption and Use in UK SMEs: a Failure of Initiatives <i>Electronic Journal Information Systems Evaluation</i> , 11, 2, 91- 96
Beckinsale et al (2006)	Al-Qirim, N. (2007) A Research Trilogy into E-Commerce Adoption in Small Businesses in New Zealand, <i>Electronic</i> <i>Markets</i> , 17, 4, 263-285
Levy and Powell (2005)	Cragg, P. (2006) Strategies for growth in SMEs: The role of information and information systems. <i>Information Processing & Management</i> , 42, 320-320.
	Kuckertz, A. (2006) Strategies for growth in SMEs: The role of information and information systems. <i>International Small</i> <i>Business Journal</i> , 24, 326-328
	Custodio M, Thorogood A, Yetton P (2006) @ full speed: accelerated time to market- <i>Journal Of Information</i> <i>Technology</i> ,
	Woerndl, M., Powell, P. and Vidgen, R. (2005) Netsourcing in SMEs: E-ticketing in Art Venues, <i>Electronic Markets</i> ,
	Wrycza, S., Gajda, D. (2006) eBusiness Adoption Benchmarking for the Region, Challenges and Practise in Cunningham and M. Cunningham (Eds.)- Exploiting the Knowledge Economy: Issues, Applications and Case Studies, OS Press

Appendix 4: Bibliography of all published work by Margi Levy

Refereed Journal Papers

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2008) Small Firm Transformation through IS *International Journal of Technology Management*, 43 (1-3), 123-141

Beckinsale, M., Levy, M. And Powell, P. (2006) Exploring Internet Adoption Drivers in SMEs, *Electronic Markets*, 16, 4, 361-370

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2006) Lessons for Managing IS In Small Firms, *Resource Management Journal*, 19, i-iii,

Levy, M., Powell, P. And Worrall, L. (2005) Strategic Intent and E-Business in SMEs: Enablers and Inhibitors, *Information Resources Management Journal*, 18, 4, 1-20

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2003) Exploring SME Internet Adoption Issues: Towards a Contingent Model, *Electronic Markets*, 13, 2, 173-181

Levy, M., Loebbecke, C. and Powell, P. (2003) Co-opetition and Knowledge Sharing: the IS role, *European Journal of Information Systems*, 12, 1, 3-17

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2002) Critical Issues for Growing IS Capabilities in SMEs, *Small Business Economics*, 16, 341-354

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2001) SMEs: Aligning IS and the Strategic Context, *Journal of Information Technology*, 16, 133-144

Duhan, S., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2001) Information Systems Strategies in Knowledge-based SMEs: The Role of Core Competencies, *European Journal of Information Systems*, 10, 25-40

Ballantine, J., Levy, M., Martin, A., Munro, I. and Powell, P. (2000) An Ethical Perspective on Information Systems Evaluation, *International Journal of Agile Management Systems*, 2, 3, 233-241

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2000) Information Strategy for SMEs: an Organisational Perspective, *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 9, 1, 63-84

Levy, M., Powell, P and Galliers, R. (1999) Assessing Information Systems Strategy Development Frameworks in SMEs, *Information and Management*, 36, 247–261

Ballantine, J., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1998) Evaluating Information Systems in SMEs: Issues and Evidence, *European Journal of Information Systems*, 7,241-251

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1998) SME Flexibility and the Role of Information Systems, *Small Business Economics*, 11, 183-196

Levy, M and Powell, P (1997) Assessing the Value of Information Systems Planning at Heath Springs, *International Journal of Technology Management*, 13, 4, 426-442

Ballantine, J., Bonner, M., Levy, M., Martin, A., Munro, I. and Powell, P (1996) The 3-D Model of Information Systems Success: the Search for the Dependent Variable Continues, *Information Resources Management Journal*, 9, 4, 5-14,

Atkinson, D., Levy, M. and Quaddas, M. (1992) A Decision Conferencing Case Study, *Interfaces*, 22, 6, 61-71

Book

Levy, M and Powell, P. (2005) Strategies for Growth in SMEs: The role of information and information systems, Butterworth Heinemann

Book Chapters

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Worrall, L. (2007) The Relationship of Strategic Intent to the Enablers and Inhibitors of E-business in SMEs. in Khosrow-Pour M.(ed), *Emerging Information Resources Management and Technologies*, Idea Group Publishing, 244-270,

Beckinsale, M. And Levy, M. (2002) SMEs, Growth, Networks and the Internet: A Strategic Perspective' in Oakey, R., During, W. and Kauser, S. (eds.), *High New Technology-Based Firms In The New Millennium Volume II*, Pergamon, 181-196

Ballantine, J., Bonner, M., Levy, M., Martin, A., Munro, I. and Powell, P. (1997) Developing a 3-D model of information systems success, in Garrity E and Sanders G (eds) *Information Systems Success Measurement*, Idea Group Publishing, Harrisburg PA, 46-59

Grant, C. and Levy, M (1999) Ensuring the Disaster Recovery Planning Process Delivers Business Continuity: the Experience of a Major UK Retail Bank in Targett D, Powell P and Grimshaw D (Eds.) *IT in Business – A Managers Casebook*, Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, UK, 191–215

Refereed Conference Papers

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2009) Contingent Dynamics of IS Alignment in SMEs, ECIS 2009, Verona, Italy, 8-10th June 2009

Wu, Y. and Levy, M. (2008) Information Systems Integration Mechanisms Within Supply Chain Agility In The Chinese Automotive Industry, Proceedings of European Conference on Information Systems, Galway, Republic of Ireland, June 2008

Corea, S. and Levy, M. (2007) Quality of IT Support For Corporate Environmental Management: A Paradigmatic Framework, Proceedings of ICDIM 2007, The 2nd IEEE International Conference On Digital Information Management, Lyon, France, 2007

Muhammad, M and Levy, M (2006) A Model towards Successful E-Commerce Adoption Amongst Malaysian SMEs', Proceedings of UKAIS2006, University of Gloucestershire April 2006,

Wu, Y. and Levy, M (2006) A Framework towards Success in Collaborative Commerce', Proceedings of UKAIS2006, University of Gloucestershire, April 2006,

Duhan, S., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2005) IS Strategy In SMEs Using Organizational Capabilities: The CPX Framework, ECIS 2005, European Conference On Information Systems 26-28 May 2005, Regensburg, Germany

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Worrall, L. (2004) Strategic Intent And E-Business In SMEs: Enablers And Inhibitors, (2004), ECIS 2004, European Conference On Information Systems, 14 -16 June 2004, Turku, Finland

Beckinsale, M. and Levy, M. (2004) SMEs And Internet Adoption Strategy: Who Do SMEs Listen To?, European Conference On Information Systems, 14 -16 June 2004, Turku, Finland

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (2003) IS Alignment in Small Firms: New Paths through the Maze, Proceedings of the 11th European Conference on Information Systems, Naples, June 2003.

Woerndl, M, Levy, M. and Powell, P (2003) Flexibility Matters, ASP and SMEs, Proceedings of the 8th UK Academy for Information Systems Conference, Warwick, April 2003.

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2002) SME Internet Adoption: Towards a Transporter Model, 15th Bled Electronic Commerce Conference e-Reality: Constructing the e-Economy Bled, Slovenia, June 17 - 19, 2002

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2002) SMEs and Business Transformation: Proscribed, Disconnected and Disjointed Progressions, 10th European Conference on Information Systems June 2002, Gdansk, Poland

Woerndl, M. Levy, M., Powell, P. and Saverwal, A. (2002) ASP: Poison or Succour for SMEs Proceedings of the 7th UKAIS conference Leeds April 2002

de Guia, M., Leal de Matos, P, Levy, M., Powell, P. and Golden, W. (2002) The Role of the Internet in SMEs: A Cross-European Comparison, 12th Mini EURO Conference, Brussels, April, 2002

Levy, M, Loebekke, C. and Powell, P. (2001) SMEs, Co-opetition And Knowledge Sharing: The IS Role, 9th European Conference on Information Systems 26-27 June 2001, Bled, Slovenia (**Best Paper Award**)

Levy, M, Loebekke, C. and Powell, P. (2001) Knowledge Transfer And Small Businesses, Proceedings of the United Kingdom Academy of Information Systems, 18-20 April 2001, Portsmouth University UK

Levy, M., Loebbecke, C., Martin, A. and Powell, P. (2000) Conceptualizing DSS Success: Towards a 3D-Model, in proceedings of the 1st Gulf Conference on DSS, Kuwait, November 2000

Levy, M. Loebekke, C., Powell, P., and van Fenema, P. (1999) ,SMEs, Co-opetition and Knowledge Transfer with Proceedings of 7th ECIS Conference, Copenhagen, June 1999 Copenhagen, Denmark, 791 - 799, 23-25 June 1999

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1999) Emerging Technologies: Can the Internet Bring Added Value to SMEs **in** Brooks L. and Kimble C (Eds.) Information Systems – The Next Generation, Proceedings of 4th UKAIS Conference, University of York, 7-9 April 1999, McGraw Hill Levy, M., Powell, P., Yetton, P. (1998) SMEs and the Gains from IS: from Cost Reduction to Value Added in Larsen T, Levine L and DeGross J, Information Systems: Current Issues and Future Changes, IFIP 8.2/8.6, Helsinki, Finland, December 1998

Levy, M. and Powell, (1998), Improving Information Provision for GP Fundholders **in** Avison D (Ed.) Proceedings of 3rd UKAIS Conference Proceedings, McGraw-Hill April 1998, 51-62

Levy, M., Loebbecke, C. and Powell, P. (1997) Information Systems as a Mechanism for Business Risk Management, ISDSS'97, Lausanne, 1997 pp.417-428.

Levy, M., Powell, P., Merali, Y. and Galliers, R. (1997) Assessing Information Systems Strategy Development Frameworks in SMEs **in** Murphy C, Galliers R, O'Callaghan R and Loebekke C (Eds) Proceedings of the 5th European Conference on Information Systems, Cork, June 1997

Ballantine, J., Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1996) Firm Size and the Evaluation of Information Systems: Issues and Evidence **in** Krcmar H, Coelho J, and Jelassi T (Eds.) Proceedings of the 4th European Conference on Information Systems , Lisbon, Portugal 2-4 July 1996, 797-809

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1996) Small and Medium Sized Enterprises, Information Systems and Issues of Flexibility **in** Krcmar H, Coelho J, and Jelassi T (Eds.) Proceedings of the 4th European Conference on Information Systems, Lisbon, Portugal 2-4 July 1996, 811-821

Ballantine, J.,Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1996) Against Taylor-made Solutions: Information Systems Strategy in a Learning Organisation, proceedings of the ACM SIGCPR/SIGMIS Conference, Denver, USA, April 1996, pp.36-48

Ballantine, J., Levy, M., Martin, A., Munro, I. and Powell, P. (1996) The Ethics of IS Evaluation, Operational Research Society Conference, Warwick, Sept 1996.

Ballantine, J., Levy, M., Martin, A., Munro, I. and Powell, P. (1996) Towards Ethical IS Evaluation **in** A Brown and Remenyi D (Eds) Proceedings of the 3rd European Conference on the Evaluation of IT, Bath, Nov 1996 PP 11-20
Levy, M., Martin, A., Powell, P., Gasson, A., Ormerod, R. and Merali, Y. (1996) Alternative Paradigms for Information Systems Proceedings of the 1st UKAIS Conference, Cranfield University April 1996

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1996) Action Learning for Information Systems Strategy, Proceedings of the 1st UKAIS Conference, Cranfield University April 1996

Levy, M., Martin, A., Munro, I., Powell, P. and Bonner M, (1996) IS Success: The Quest for the Dependent Variable Goes On *with* Proceedings of the 1st UKAIS Conference, Cranfield University April 1996

Levy, M. Powell, P., Merali, Y. and Galliers, R. (1996) Evaluating Frameworks for IS Strategy Development in SMEs Proceedings of the 1st UKAIS Conference, Cranfield University April 1996

Levy, M (1995) An Analysis of Decision Conferencing As An Approach to Strategic Planning, Warwick Research Bureau Papers No. 161, April 1995

Levy, M (1994) Habermas, Validity and Legitimate Decisions: The Decision Conferencing Approach, Warwick Research Bureau Papers No 131, Sept. 1994

Levy, M. and Synnott, M. (1993) A Systems Approach to Environmental Management **in**, Stowell F et al (Eds) Systems Science: Addressing Global Issues, Plenum Press, 1993, Proceedings of the UKSS Conference

Ballantine, J. and Levy, M. (1993) The Applicability of Current Evaluation Approaches in Determining the Success of Strategic Information Systems Plans, **in**, Jayaratna N et al (Eds) Proceedings of the BCS ISM SIG/UKSS Joint Conference on the Theory, Use and Integrative Aspects of IS Methodologies, Edinburgh, Scotland, September 1993

Galliers, R., Klass, D., Levy, M. and Pattison, E. (1991) Effective Strategy Formulation using Decision Conferencing and Soft Systems Methodology in Stamper RK et al (eds) Collaborative Work, Social Communications and Information Systems, North Holland (1991)

Levy, M. (1991) Towards an Evolutionary Theory of Information Systems Planning, in, Jackson MC et al (Eds) Systems Thinking in Europe, Plenum Press, 1991, Proceedings of the UKSS Conference.

Book Review

Levy, M. (1997) Information Management: the organizational dimension, Earl M. J in *Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 6, 265-266

Commissioned Books/Articles

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (2004) IT Strategy in *Public Service Review*, Spring 2004, 40-41

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1999) Implementing the Information Strategy in Sharing Experiences: Value for Money in School Management, Funding Agency for Schools, March 1999

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1997) Effective Information Management *with Powell P*, Funding Agency for Schools

Research Reports

Beckinsale, M and Levy, M (2002) Supporting Effective Internet Adoption in SMEs, report prepared for CW2000, June 2002

Levy, M., Worrall, L., Beckinsale , M., and Ford I. (2001) Supporting Effective Internet Adoption in SMEs, *with* report prepared for Network West Midlands, September 2001

Levy, M, and Birtwistle, J. (2000) Information and Communications Technologies in Small Rural Businesses, report prepared for <u>ICT@Work</u>, June 2000

Levy, M. (2000) Information and Communications Technologies in Small Businesses: Case Study Analysis, report prepared for <u>ICT@Work</u>, June 2000

Commissioned Reports

Levy, M (2000) Report of the 2WM focus group on Internet portal requirements for BT, December 2000

Levy, M. and Powell P. (1997) Effective Information Management, Funding Agency for Schools

Levy, M. (1994) An Evaluation of the National Westminster Banks Benefit Methodology Handbook, Prepared for UKBB Special Project Services, September 1994

An Information Systems Plan for Curtin University of Technology, Perth, W. Australia, 1991

Conference Papers

Beckinsale M and Levy, M. (2002) Internet Adoption, Planning & Strategy in New Technology Based Small Firms (NTBSFs),10th Annual High Technology Small Firms Conference, 10-12th June 2002, Twente, Netherlands

Beckinsale M and Levy, M. (2001) SMEs, Growth and the Internet: A Strategic Perspective, 9th Annual High Technology Small Firms Conference, 31 May – 1 June 2001, Manchester UK

Levy, M. and Powell, P. (1999) Getting Value from Information Systems, Institute of Business Advisers Conference, London, July 1999.

Levy, M., Powell, P. and Yetton, P. (1999) Growing IS Capabilities: Routes for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises, SME Conference, St Andrews, June 1999.